# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. JEFFREY SCOTT REED, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY The Honorable Robert Lewis, Judge BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Appellant

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney at Law P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

### **

### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court failed to ensure that appellant received a public trial.
- 2. The prosecutor's improper argument misstating the law of reasonable doubt denied appellant due process.
- 3. Trial counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's misconduct denied appellate effective representation.
- 4. There was insufficient evidence to support a conviction for a separate crime of kidnapping.
- 5. The special verdict instruction misstated the unanimity requirement.
- 6. The court's refusal to grant a mistrial based on improper opinion testimony denied appellant his right to jury trial.
  - 7. Cumulative error denied appellant a fair trial.

### Issues pertaining to assignments of error

1. During trial, courtroom security personnel removed a member of the public from the courtroom and told him if he returned he would be arrested for trespassing. Where the court did not undertake the required analysis on the record before the public was excluded from the proceedings or determine that exclusion was necessary, did the court fail

to fulfill its constitutional obligation to ensure that appellant received a public trial?

- 2. The prosecutor argued in closing that the jury's job was to "declare the truth," and he trivialized the reasonable doubt standard by comparing it to everyday decision making, easing the State's constitutional burden. Where these improper arguments have been repeatedly condemned by appellate courts and where there is a substantial likelihood the prosecutor's flagrant misconduct affected the verdict, is reversal required?
- 3. Did trial counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's improper argument constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?
- 4. Appellant was convicted of burglary, kidnapping, and robbery arising out of a home invasion. The evidence showed that the victim was held to the floor at gunpoint by one man as a second man searched the home for items to steal, but he was not moved and the restraint ended when the home invasion was completed. Where the restraint was merely incidental to the robbery, was the evidence insufficient to establish a separate crime of kidnapping?
- 5. Where the special verdict instruction incorrectly required the jury to be unanimous to answer the special verdicts "no," must the weapons enhancements and exceptional sentence be vacated?

6. On the way to the home invasion, an officer pulled over a vehicle he suspected was involved. When he ordered the driver to turn off the car, the driver leaned forward, the officer reached in to grab him, and the passenger raised a gun over the driver's back and shot the officer. Appellant did not dispute that he was the driver or that the passenger shot the officer, but he argued there was no premeditated intent to kill. The State's theory was that the driver leaned forward intentionally so that the passenger could shoot the officer, and, despite the court's pretrial ruling excluding it, the officer gave his opinion that the driver was acting willfully and intentionally. The court sustained appellant's objection but denied his motion for mistrial. Did the officer's opinion as to this critical issue invade the province of the jury and deny appellant a fair trial?

7. Does cumulative error require reversal?

### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. <u>Procedural History</u>

The Clark County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant Jeffrey Scott Reed and co-defendant Daylan Berg with attempted first degree murder, first degree burglary, first degree kidnapping, first degree robbery, and intimidating a witness, and charged Reed with first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 7-9; RCW 9A.28.020(1), (3)(b); RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a); RCW 9A.28.020(3)(a); RCW 9A.52.020(1)(a)(b); RCW

9A.40.020(1)(b); RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(i); RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(ii); RCW 9A.08.020(3); RCW 9A.72.110(1)(d); RCW 9.41.040(1)(a). The State alleged that Reed or Berg was armed with a firearm during the commission of counts 1 through 5 and that the attempted murder was committed against a law enforcement officer performing his official duties. CP 7-9.

The case proceeded to a joint jury trial before the Honorable Robert Lewis, and the jury returned guilty verdicts and affirmative findings on the weapon enhancement and exceptional sentence allegations. CP 334-46. Reed filed a motion for arrest of judgment or a new trial, which the court denied. CP 350, 484.

The court declined to count the burglary and intimidating a witness charges separately at sentencing. CP 488. It imposed an exceptional sentence of 500 months plus a 60 month firearm enhancement on the attempted murder charge, standard range sentences on the remaining counts, with firearm enhancements on the robbery and kidnapping counts. The sentences on the attempted murder and kidnapping convictions were set to run consecutively, with a total confinement imposed of 749 months. CP 489.

Reed filed this timely appeal. CP 500.

### 2. Substantive Facts

On April 15, 2009, two men broke into Albert Watts's house through the back door and entered the garage, where Watts was tending his medical marijuana plants. 24RP<sup>1</sup> 987, 989, 992, 994. The first man pointed a gun at Watts and told him to get to the ground. When Watts was on the ground, the second man held the gun to his head while the first man started ripping up the marijuana plants. 24RP 995-97. The first man made a couple of trips in and out of the garage while the second man continued to hold Watts to the ground. 24RP 998. After several trips, the first man returned, told Watts he had his wallet and knew where he lived, and said he would hunt Watts down and kill him if he went to the police. 24RP 1000, 1017. The men told Watts to stay on the floor for 15 minutes, and then they left. 24RP 1000. After about three minutes, Watts went inside his house and discovered that his cell phone and wallet were missing. 24RP 1001.

The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is designated as follows: 1RP—7/1/09; 2RP—7/8/09; 3RP—7/16/09; 4RP—7/29/09; 5RP—9/18/09; 6RP—9/29/09; 7RP—10/2/09; 8RP—10/9/09; 9RP—10/22/09; 10RP—11/6/09; 11RP—12/15/09; 12(A)RP—12/17/09; 12(B)RP—12/17/09; 13RP—12/22/09; 14RP—1/27/10; 15RP—2/23/10; 16RP—3/18/10; 17RP—4/16/10; 17(B)RP—4/16/10; 18(A)RP—4/29/10; 18(B)RP—4/29/10; 19RP—5/5/10; 20RP—5/13/10; 21RP—5/14/10; 22RP—5/17/10; 23RP—5/18/10; 24RP—5/19/10; 25(A)RP—5/20/10; 25(B)RP—5/20/10; 26(A)RP—5/24/10; 26(B)RP—5/24/10; 27(A)RP—5/25/10; 27(B)RP—5/25/10; 28(A)RP—5/26/10; 28(B)RP—5/26/10; 29RP—5/27/10; 30RP—5/28/10; 31RP—6/1/10; 32RP—7/19/10; 33RP—7/30/10; 34RP—8/17/10; 35RP—9/3/10; 36RP—9/15/10.

Watts's neighbor, Cynthia Surber, called 911 when she saw a man in a black hoody running back and forth through the house. 24RP 1092, 1098. As she was watching, Surber saw a white car back up into the driveway and a man carrying what looked like a Christmas tree and a pillowcase. 24RP 1093-94. Surber also saw something with a wood frame being shoved into the back of the car. 24RP 1099. She reported that she saw three to four young guys, all in their 20's, get into the car. 24RP 1100-01.

Vancouver Police Sergeant Jay Alie was dispatched to Watts's home, responding to Surber's 911 call. 24RP 1131. As he was on his way, Alie heard on the radio that the suspect vehicle had left the scene. 24RP 1134. He then saw the described white car heading away from the burglary address. 24RP 1135. Alie informed dispatch that he intended to stop the vehicle, and he provided the license plate number. 24RP 1136. Alie activated his emergency lights and conducted a traffic stop, as another officer pulled his car behind Alie's. 24RP 1137-38.

Alie saw two occupants in the white car. As he approached the driver's side, he noticed that both driver's side windows were down. 24RP 1139-41. When he saw a marijuana plant and some other items in the back of the car, Alie surmised that the vehicle's occupants had been involved in the burglary he was responding to. 24RP 1141-42.

The driver of the car was sitting with both hands on the steering wheel, staring straight ahead, with the engine running. Alie told him to shut the engine off, there was a pause, and then the driver said okay and ducked toward the center console with his head past the steering wheel. 24RP 1143-44. When Alie reached in to grab the driver, the passenger raised a gun over the driver's back and shot Alie. 24RP 1144-45. The car then took off. 24RP 1146.

Tony Beck observed the traffic stop. He was working in his garage when his attention was drawn by flashing lights on the street outside his home. He looked outside and saw that two patrol cars had pulled over a small white car. 24RP 1109-10. After about two minutes, one of the officers approached the car. 24RP 1119. Beck looked away and then heard a loud pop. When he turned back around, he saw the white car speeding away. 24RP 1113.

Alie was wearing a ballistic vest, and the bullet did not penetrate his chest. 24RP 1149. He was taken to the hospital by ambulance, and while he was there he provided a description of the driver and passenger to the investigating officer. 24RP 1150. Alie described the driver as a white male with short reddish hair and a cheesy looking beard, 165 to 170 pounds, wearing a dark hoody. The passenger was clean shaven with

short brown hair and was possibly wearing a brown jacket. 25(A)RP 1195, 1199, 1203.

The white car, a Kia Spectra, had previously been associated with Jeffrey Scott Reed and was registered to an address in Portland. 25(A)RP 1205; 26(B)RP 1620. Vancouver dispatch requested that Portland police determine if the vehicle had returned to that address. 25(A)RP 1205. A Portland officer drove by the residence but did not see the Kia. As he was driving away, however, the Kia passed him heading the other direction. 25(A)RP 1211. The officer turned around to pursue the Kia. He found the car a short distance away abandoned, with the passenger door open and the engine running. 25(A)RP 1211-12. Inside the car, he saw a large flat screen TV and some marijuana plants. 25(A)RP 1214. The Portland Police set up a containment perimeter. 25(A)RP 1213.

As the perimeter was being established, someone at a nearby apartment complex called 911 to report seeing a young man wearing a black hoody run through the complex parking lot and jump the fence. A maroon Camaro then drove into the parking lot without headlights. The man in the hoody came back over the fence into the parking lot and got into the Camaro. The Camaro then pulled out onto Holgate Avenue. 25(A)RP 1225-30.

A roadblock was set up at the intersection of 118<sup>th</sup> and Holgate to stop all traffic coming into or going out of the perimeter area. 25(A)RP 1236-37. The officers conducting the roadblock had a vague description of the possible suspects in the Vancouver shooting and information that Jeffrey Scott Reed was possibly one of suspects. 25(A)RP 1237, 1241.

As a line of cars was waiting to be checked and let through the roadblock, a maroon Camaro approached in the inside lane at a high rate of speed for the situation. 25(A)RP 1238. An officer flagged the car down and approached the passenger side window. She asked for identification, and the passenger identified himself as Jeffrey Scott Reed. 25(A)RP 1241. Reed was arrested, handcuffed, and searched incident to his arrest. 25(A)RP 1241, 1258. In Reed's front pocket officers located a cell phone later determined to belong to Albert Watts. 25(A)RP 1259, 1275; 25(B)RP 1319-20.

The driver of the Camaro was Reed's brother, James Roberts. 25(A)RP 1272; 27(A)RP 1681. Reed had visited Roberts's house earlier that evening with Daylan Berg. 27(A)RP 1683. Sometime around 10:00, Roberts received a phone call, Berg showed up at the house, and Roberts left in his Camaro. 27(A)RP 1687-89. Berg stayed the night, and in the morning Roberts's girlfriend drove him to an apartment complex in Vancouver. 27(A)RP 1692-94. From there, Berg received a ride to a

friend's house in Portland, where he was later arrested. 27(A)RP 1716, 1738. At the time of his arrest, Berg was carrying a gun which testing showed was consistent with the gun used in the shooting. 27(A)RP 1748; 28(A)RP 1992.

Portland police obtained warrants to search the Kia and the Camaro. Inside the Kia they found a flat screen TV and marijuana plants in back seat, a laptop computer on the floor of the back seat, and a white trash bag full of marijuana. They also found a .40 caliber round, a .40 caliber casing, and black plastic fragments consistent with the buttons on Alie's uniform shirt. 26(B)RP 1647-54; 27(B)RP 1873. In the Camaro police found a pet store receipt associated with Watts. 26(B)RP 1657, 1659; 27(A)RP 1758.

Keely Royston, James Roberts's girlfriend, was charged with rendering criminal assistance. She testified under a cooperation agreement regarding her contacts with Reed and Berg. 27(A)RP 1695.

Michael Alldritt, an inmate awaiting trial in Oregon, also testified under a cooperation agreement. 28(A)RP 1898-99. Alldritt testified that he was incarcerated with Berg in April and May 2009, and in that time Berg boasted about being involved in a home invasion robbery and officer shooting. 28(A)RP 1901-02. According to Alldritt, Berg said he and a friend planned a home invasion robbery in Vancouver and followed

through with it the same day. As they were leaving the robbery, they were pulled over, and when the officer approached, Berg reached over the driver and shot the officer. 28(A)RP 1902-03. Berg never suggested to Alldritt that the shooting was planned, however. 28(A)RP 1914.

Watts was never able to identify the intruders, nor was Alie able to identify the driver or the person who shot him. 24RP 1005, 1147. Neither Reed's nor Berg's fingerprints were found on the .40 caliber round and casing found in the Kia, the gun, or the magazine. 27(B)RP 1838-40.

In closing argument, Reed's counsel did not dispute that Reed was responsible for the offenses committed at Watts's house. 30RP 2382. He argued, however, that the State failed to prove Reed was an accomplice to attempted first degree murder, because there was no evidence of premeditation. 30RP 2386-88. Counsel argued that the passenger shot Alie with the intent to kill, but there was no evidence Reed knew in advance what the passenger was going to do. 30RP 2387, 2389-90.

### C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT FULFILL ITS CONSTITUTIONAL OBLIGATION TO ENSURE THAT REED RECEIVED A PUBLIC TRIAL, AND REMAND FOR A NEW TRIAL IS REQUIRED.

Following a request from courtroom security personnel, the trial court permitted undercover officers in the courtroom audience during the

proceedings, under the authority of the Clark County security team. 25(A)RP 1182-83; 26(B)RP 1670. On the third day of trial, Berg's counsel reported to the court that a member of the public had been excluded from the trial by one of these officers. He was sitting in the back of the courtroom when he was told he had to leave. 26(B)RP 1606. The court questioned a member of the courtroom security team, who reported that an undercover officer in the courtroom felt the man had intimidated a witness who was leaving the courtroom the previous day, and the team was looking into it. 26(B)RP 1609-10.

Counsel objected that the security team was not permitted to exclude members of the public from attending trial. 26(B)RP 1611. The court noted the objection but ruled that no member of the public had been excluded. 26(B)RP 1612. The court also noted that the only reason the Vancouver Police officers were allowed in the courtroom was to provide increased security under the control of the Clark County security team. If those officers were removing people from the courtroom because they perceived them to be looking at witnesses funny, it might be a problem. 26(B)RP 1670.

The next day, defense counsel presented the court with a declaration from Joel Wyman, the man who had been removed from the courtroom. Wyman explained that he was told if he returned to court he

would be arrested for trespassing, and he was afraid to return. 27(A)RP 1674-75. The court noted that it had not ordered anyone excluded from the courtroom nor given anyone authority to exclude anyone else. If anyone told Wyman he was excluded from the courtroom while the trial was in progress, it was done without the court's authority. 27(A)RP 1674. The court declined a request by counsel to delay the proceedings until Wyman could return. 27(A)RP 1677.

At the end of the day, Berg's counsel moved for mistrial based on violation of the right to a public trial. 27(B)RP 1856. Wyman was in attendance as a member of the public, but he was pulled from the courtroom and told not to return under threat of arrest. Counsel argued this was a structural defect which required a new trial. 27(B)RP 1856-57. Reed's counsel joined the motion. 27(B)RP 1858; CP 183-85.

The court denied the motion for a mistrial, stating it had not excluded anyone and that the proceedings had been open to the public at all times. 27(B)RP 1861. Although Wyman was erroneously told that he was excluded from the courtroom, when the court learned of this it informed the sheriff's office that there was no authority to ban him from the courtroom. 27(B)RP 1862. At counsel's request, the court issued an order that, absent good cause, no one should be removed from the

courtroom or prevented from viewing the proceedings. 27(B)RP 1863; CP 186-87.

After the jury entered its verdicts, Reed again raised the public trial issue, moving for a new trial. CP 350-54. The court denied the motion, pointing out again that the court did not exclude anyone from the trial. 35RP 2480. The court did not believe that Wyman's removal from the courtroom, or the fact that he was told he would be arrested if he returned, violated any right of the defendants or the public. 35RP 2581-82. The court was mistaken.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant the right to a public trial. State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 174, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). In addition, article I, section 10 of the Washington Constitution states, "Justice in all cases shall be administered openly," which provides the public itself a right to open, accessible proceedings. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 174. Moreover, the First Amendment implicitly grants the public a right of access to trials. Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court, 457 U.S. 596, 604-606, 102 S.Ct. 2613, 73 L.Ed.2d 248 (1982).

These constitutional provisions assure a fair trial, foster public understanding and trust in the judicial system and give judges the check of

public scrutiny. <u>State v. Brightman</u>, 155 Wn.2d 506, 514, 122 P.3d 150 (2005); <u>see also Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court of California</u>, <u>Riverside County</u>, 464 U.S. 501, 508, 104 S.Ct. 819, 823, 78 L.Ed.2d 629, 637 (1984) ("The value of openness lies in the fact that people not actually attending trials can have confidence that standards of fairness are being observed."). A public trial "ensure[s] that [the] judge and prosecutor carry out their duties responsibly ... encourages witnesses to come forward[,] and discourages perjury." <u>Waller v. Georgia</u>, 467 U.S. 39, 46, 104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31 (1984).

The court has an independent obligation to protect the defendant's and the public's right to open proceedings and assure that justice is administered openly. <u>Easterling</u>, 157 Wn.2d at 187 (Chambers, J., concurring) ("[T]he constitutional requirement that justice be administered openly is not just a right held by the defendant. It is a constitutional obligation of the courts."); <u>State v. Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-59, 906 P.2d 325 (1995); <u>State v. Duckett</u>, 141 Wn. App. 797, 806, 173 P.3d 948 (2007).

While the public trial right is not absolute, it is strictly guarded to assure that members of the public are excluded from trial proceedings only in the most unusual circumstances. <u>Easterling</u>, 157 Wn.2d at 174-75; <u>Brightman</u>, 155 Wn.2d at 509. "Trial courts are obligated to take every

reasonable measure to accommodate public attendance at criminal trials." Presley v. Georgia, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 130 S.Ct. 721, 725, 175 L.Ed.2d 675 (2010). Thus, members of the public cannot be excluded unless the court has conducted an analysis of relevant factors<sup>2</sup> on the record and entered specific findings that justify the closure. Presley, 130 S.Ct. at 724-25; Waller, 467 U.S. at 45-47; Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 175; Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 258-59; State v. Leyerle, 158 Wn. App. 474, 481, 242 P.3d 921 (2010). Exclusion of the public without the required analysis and findings violates the right to a public trial. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 515-16; Duckett, 141 Wn. App. at 805.

Denial of the right to a public trial is one of the limited classes of fundamental rights not subject to harmless error analysis. Easterling, 157

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Washington Supreme Court has identified the relevant factors as:

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