NO. 41167-9-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

DAYLAN ERIN BERG and JEFFREY SCOTT REED, Appellants

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 09-1-00761-6 and 09-1-00762-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ABIGAIL E. BARTLETT, WSBA #36937 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

Lormor should control in this case. Here, even if one person was temporarily removed or excluded from the courtroom, trial was conducted in an open courtroom, the general public was never excluded, Reed and Berg's family were not excluded, the doors were never closed to the public, and trial was never held in an inaccessible location.

Consequently, no courtroom closure occurred, a *Bone-Club* analysis was not required, and Reed and Berg's public trial right was not violated.

Lastly, if any error occurred, the error was inadvertent and trivial and it does not warrant the reversal of Berg and Reed's six felony

convictions.³ The purpose of the public trial right is to ensure that the judge and the prosecutor carry out their duties responsibly, that perjury is discouraged, and that witnesses come forward. *Lormor*, at 96. The courts have found that these purposes are not subverted when a courtroom closure is brief in its duration and in its nature. *Snyder v. Coiner*, 510 F.2d 224 (4th Cir. 1975) (finding closure was "entirely too trivial to amount to a constitutional deprivation" when, for a time during arguments of counsel before the jury, a bailiff refused to allow persons to enter or leave the courtroom); *U.S. v. Al-Smadi*, 15 F.3d 153 (10th Cir. 1975) (finding brief and inadvertent closing of the courthouse did not violate the Sixth Amendment).

If Mr. Wyman was ever excluded from the courtroom, then this "exclusion" would have occurred at the end of the day on May 24, 2010. Courthouse security would have been directed to tell Mr. Wyman that he was welcome to return to court immediately thereafter, prior to the morning of May 25, 2010. No witnesses would have testified during this time and no evidentiary rulings would have been made in Mr. Wyman's absence. Therefore, the purposes behind the public trial right would not

³ In *Lormor*, the Court stated that Washington has not expressly rejected a "trivial or de minimis" standard when reviewing court closures. Rather, the Court has "not yet been

presented with a case or facts that warrant the adoption of the rule." *Lormor*, at 96.

. . . .

have been implicated and any error would have been too trivial and insignificant to warrant reversal of the appellants' six felony convictions.

For each of these reasons, Reed and Berg's public trial right was never violated and their convictions should be affirmed.

II. The prosecutor did not commit misconduct during closing argument and Berg and Reed did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel.

Berg and Reed claim the prosecutor committed misconduct during closing argument because he misstated the reasonable doubt standard. *See* Brief – Reed, at p. 26-27. Because this error touched on a constitutional right, the appellants claim the court must apply a constitutional harmless error standard of review. *Id.* Claiming the State cannot prove harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt, Berg and Reed contend their convictions for Count One: Attempted Murder in the First Degree, only, must be reversed. *Id.* Berg and Reed's claim is without merit.

During the State's closing argument, the prosecutor made the following comments regarding the reasonable doubt standard. Berg and Reed only take exception to the italicized portion of the prosecutor's comments.

Defense counsel in this situation and the defendants I want to emphasize have no obligation. They - - they have no obligation to establish anything, disprove anything. That is because the presumption of innocence, which they were protected by the day that this event started, is continuing.

And it's going to continue until you reach some decision in deliberation, which have not started yet, to the contrary.

. . .

...And the Court's instruction on the - - regarding the burden of proof, which is instruction No. 4, tells you, number one, that the burden is on me. It tells you that the defendant is presumed innocent. And it tells you what a reasonable doubt is. And that's one that can be based on the evidence provided or the failure to prove a particular matter.

But the Court - - the Court's instruction goes on to tell you that if after you've fully, fairly and carefully considered the evidence that's come in through the trial, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you're satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

So I'm going to be talking this morning about whether or not there's sufficient evidence for you to collectively to attain that abiding belief in the truth of the charges that we have alleged.

And an abiding belief is, I think, I will suggest to you, the same sort of frame of mind that we require in any important decision we make. Say, a decision to marry or a decision to make a significant investment. What we do in those scenarios, hopefully, is to consider all of the facts, the pros, the cons, the ups, the downs, consider all the facts in an objective, reasonable way, and then determine a course of action.

And the point I would make to you is that we're never certain if that marriage is going to succeed or that investment is going to pay off big time, but we have an abiding belief in the decision that we made, we--we believe the decision to marry or make that investment was a correct one.

(29 RP 2242-44) (emphasis added). Neither defense counsel objected to the prosecutor's comments.

As a preliminary matter, pursuant to the Washington Supreme Court's holding in *State v. Emery, Jr.* and *State v. Olson* this court should not review the appellants' assignment of error under a constitutional harmless error standard. No. 86033-5 (June 14, 2012). In *Emery* the defendants also claimed the Court should apply a harmless error standard of review because the prosecutor touched on a constitutional right when he allegedly misstated the reasonable doubt standard. *Id.*, slip op. at 5, 8. The Court declined the defendants' invitation to adopt a harmless error standard of review, stating "[i]n a prosecutorial misconduct claim, the defendant bears the burden of proving that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial." *Id.*, *citing State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011).

Here, the appellants' prosecutorial misconduct claim must fail because Berg and Reed cannot demonstrate that the prosecutor's comment was improper. In *State v. Anderson*, the prosecutor made the following comments about the reasonable doubt standard during closing argument:

...beyond a reasonable doubt is a standard that you apply every single day. [For example, in choosing to have] elective surgery, dental surgery, [you] might get a second opinion. You might be worried, do I really need it? If you go ahead and do it, you were convinced beyond a reasonable doubt.

Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 424, 429, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009), review denied 170 Wn.2d 1002 (2010). The prosecutor went on to compare reasonable doubt to decisions such as "leaving [your] children with a babysitter" and "changing lanes in the freeway." Anderson., 153 Wn. App. at 425. On review, the Court of Appeals for Division II found it was improper for the prosecutor to compare the reasonable doubt standard to common, "everyday decision making." Anderson, at 431. Such a comparison was improper because it "minimized the importance of the reasonable doubt standard and of the jury's role in determining whether the State had met its burden." *Id.* The court stated:

[b]y comparing the certainty required to convict with the certainty people often require when they make everyday decisions--both important decisions and relatively minor ones--the prosecutor trivialized and ultimately failed to convey the gravity of the State's burden and the jury's role in assessing its case against Anderson. This was improper.

Id. The court also found it was improper for the prosecutor to focus on the "degree of certainty the jurors would have to have to be *willing* to act, rather than that which would cause them to *hesitate* to act." *Id.*, at 432 (emphasis in original). However, the court's concern appeared to be that a juror's willingness to act on a common, everyday decision would be based upon a degree of certainty that is far less exacting than the degree of

certainty that should be required to find a defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

The facts in Berg and Reed's case are distinguishable from the facts in Anderson. Here, the prosecutor did not commit the error of comparing the reasonable doubt standard to common, everyday decisions (such as the decision to call a babysitter or the decision to visit the dentist). Rather, the prosecutor compared the reasonable doubt standard to momentous and often once-in-a-lifetime decisions, such as the decision to make a significant investment or the decision to get married. By comparing the reasonable doubt standard to such weighty and momentous decisions, the prosecutor did not trivialize the State's burden of proof. Rather, he appropriately conveyed the gravity of the State's burden and the jury's role in assessing its case against Berg and Reed. Also, by comparing the reasonable doubt standard to momentous decisions, the prosecutor did not invite the jury to be "willing to act" based upon a degree of certainty that is far less exacting than that which should be required to find a defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

In addition, in contrast to the cases cited by Berg and Reed, the prosecutor never compared the reasonable doubt standard to a jigsaw puzzle, he never told the jury that the presumption of innocence eroded throughout the trial, and he never told the jury that, in order to find the

defendant not-guilty, they had to "fill in the blank" with a reason that the defendant was not guilty. *See* Brief - Reed, at p. 27-28 *citing State v. Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010); *State v. Venegas*, 155 Wn. App. 507, 228 P.3d 813 (2010). For each of these reasons, the prosecutor's argument was not improper.

Assuming, arguendo, this court finds the prosecutor's comment was improper, the appellants' prosecutorial misconduct claim must nevertheless fail because Berg and Reed cannot demonstrate that the prosecutor's comment was flagrant or ill-intentioned. Allegedly improper comments must be viewed in the context of the total record. State v. *Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)). If defense counsel does not object to the prosecutor's statements and does not request a curative instruction, the issue is waived. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 719, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). An exception to the rule regarding waiver arises only if the prosecutor's remark was "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice" that could not have been neutralized by an instruction to the jury. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 596, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995). Improper prosecutorial remarks can touch on a constitutional right but still be curable by a proper instruction. State v. Smith, 144 Wn.2d 665, 679-80, 30 P.3d 1245, 39 P.3d 294 (2001). "Reversal is not required if the error could have been obviated by a

curative instruction which the defense did not request." State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

Here, the prosecutor's comparison of the reasonable doubt standard to a momentous life decision was not the type of argument that the courts have found to be flagrant and ill-intentioned. *See State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011) (finding prosecutor's argument was flagrant and ill-intentioned when prosecutor intentionally injected racial bias into trial by repeatedly referring to police as "po-leese" and by arguing that "'black folk don't testify against black folk'"); *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 143-44, 684 P.2d 699 (1984) (prosecutor repeatedly called defendant a liar and said defense witnesses could not be trusted because they were from out of town and drove fancy cars); *State v. Belgrade*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 506-07, 755 P.2d 174 (1988) (prosecutor stated the American Indian group with whom defendant was affiliated was "'a deadly group of madmen'" and "'butchers," and told the jury to remember "'Wounded Knee, South Dakota'").

Rather, if the prosecutor's reasonable doubt argument was improper, then it was the type of argument that the courts have found *not* to be flagrant or ill-intentioned and that which can be cured by an appropriate instruction. For example, in *Anderson*, when the prosecutor improperly compared the reasonable doubt standard to everyday decision

making, the reviewing court found "[t]he trial court's instructions regarding the presumption of innocence minimized any negative impact on the jury." *Anderson*, at 432. Similarly, in *Emery*, when the prosecutor told the jury they had to have a "reason" to not find the defendant guilty, the Court found any potential prejudice could have been cured by a proper instruction regarding the State's burden of proof, if the defendants had objected at trial. *Emery*, slip op. at 11.

The jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions. *State v. Hopson*, 113 Wn.2d 273, 287, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989). Here, the trial court properly instructed the jury on the presumption of innocence and on the reasonable doubt standard. (Reed CP 285, Instr. No. 4; Berg CP 32, Instr. No. 4). In addition, the prosecutor repeatedly reminded the jury of the defendant's presumption of innocence and of the State's burden of proof. For example, immediately before the prosecutor made the comments to which the appellants assign error, the prosecutor told the jury that "the defendants...have no obligation to establish anything, disprove anything" because the "presumption of innocence...is continuing." (29 RP 2242). The prosecutor also told the jury that the burden of proof was on the State. *Id.* Under these circumstances, if any prejudice was engendered by the prosecutor's reasonable doubt argument, then this prejudice was cured by the court's instructions, or it could have been cured by an additional

reference to these instructions, had Berg or Reed objected at trial. The fact that neither Berg nor Reed objected to the prosecutor's comment, despite the fact that they objected throughout the trial, suggests the prosecutor's comment "was of little moment at the time of trial." *State v. Rogers*, 70 Wn. App. 626, 631, 855 P.2d 294 (1993).

Next, Berg and Reed seem to argue that the prosecutor's utterance of the word "truth" during his closing argument, contributed to the "flagrancy" of the prosecutor's reasonable doubt argument. See Brief—Reed, at p. 23-24. However, the prosecutor's use of the word "truth" was not improper because the prosecutor did not tell the jury that its job was to search for the truth. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 25, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). Rather, the prosecutor used "the truth" as a term that encapsulated how the jury should properly arrive at their verdicts. For example, the prosecutor asked "how is the best way to get to the truth when you're in deliberation?" He responded by stating

I would suggest, number one, follow the law. Follow the law, read those instructions, make sure you understand them, and stay on that. That's a road map to the decision-making process.

(29 RP 2244). However, if it was improper for the prosecutor to utter the word "truth" during his closing argument, then, any error was cured by the court's instructions. *Emery*, slip op. at 8 (finding improper "truth"

argument and improper reasonable doubt argument were cured by court's instructions).

Further, contrary to the appellants' assertion, the jury was properly instructed "that the lawyers' statements are not evidence." (Reed CP 281, Instr. No. 1; Berg CP 28). The prosecutor reiterated this instruction when he said

[t]he closing arguments are not evidence...[w]hat the lawyers say is not evidence. If I say something that when you get back in deliberations does not ring true to your collective memory, you disregard what I say and operate on what your collective memory tells you.

- (29 RP 2246).

Lastly, the evidence that both Berg and Reed took a substantial step towards committing the crime of murder in the first degree was overwhelming. *See* sec. VI, *infra*. Consequently, neither Berg nor Reed can show a substantial likelihood that the outcome of their case would have been different but-for the prosecutor's comments during closing argument. Therefore, even under a constitutional harmless error standard, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Berg and Reed's claim that they received ineffective assistance of counsel must also fail. A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is reviewed de novo. *State v. Binh Thach*, 126 Wn. App. 297, 319, 106 P.3d 782 (2005). There is a strong presumption that counsel is effective. *State*

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